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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

RAYMOND M. JEFFERSON,

Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 14-1247 (JEB)
SETH D. HARRIS, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

“[F] or the citizencritic of government], if is as much his duty to criticize as it is the

official’s duty to administet. N.Y. Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 282 (1964). But what
obtains wherthe roles are mixed and ittise official’s duty toplay critic? For Plaintiff

Raymond Jefferson, a former high-level appointee in the Department of Labdryehbees
himself thevictim of an Inspector General’'s defamatogmpaignthe governmental critic must
be held to account.This isparticularlysowhen, as alleged here, thetic’'s accusations were
false and misleading, and were widely repeatdtie national press.

Because Plaintiff knows he cannot sue the government diredtiyt for libel —assuch a
claim would bestatutorily barred- he has concocted a number dfestcauses of action
grounded in the Constitutiothe Administrative Procedure Act, and the Inspector General Act
all of whichhe now brings againsite government and seveddficials. While hemayhave
reason to fegktnocked down and mistreatdte hasfor the most parfailed to identify a
colorable legal theory to support his suit. The Court will thus grant the bllkfehdants’

Motion to Dismissleaving only Plaintiff's due-process claim against the government to proceed.

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2014cv01247/167227/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2014cv01247/167227/36/
https://dockets.justia.com/

Background

All facts are taken frorRlaintiff's Amended Complaint — which the Court must presume
to be trueat this stage of the litigationas well as documents referenced therein, such as official
government reports and matters of public recdrde facts of thisase chieflycover a period of
time in whichPlaintiff served as Assistant Secretafyabor for Veterans’ Employment and
Training Service¢VETS), a “senior political” position he was appointed to fill by President
Obamain 2009. SeeAm. Compl., 11 6, 17, 25; Pres. Nomination No. 527, 111th Congress
(2009-2010) (confirmingeffersorby voice vote on Aug. 7, 2009).

His central grievanceoncernsan investigation ancesultingReport by the Department
of Labor’s Office of InspectoGeneral (DOLOIG), which*accused Jefferson. . of legal and
ethical violation for allegedlypressuringa subordinate to steer contracts to thnekviduals
“In violation of federal procurement rules,” such as competitive-bidding requirsmea¢Am.
Compl., 11 24, 51. Divingnmediatelyinto the details of that irestigation and the Report,
however, would be to start medias resa few backgrounéactsare important to give context to
the dispute.The Court has arranged theémchronological order as best it camo small feat
given the Amended Complaint’s Faulknerian sense of time and consistent failusigeasn
approximatedates to critical facts.

A. Jefferson’sNork as Assistant Secretary

As Jefferson sees ilvhen he joined DL in mid-2009 he inherited an office rife with
“operational and management problems,” which extended throughout VETS’ organizational
chart, including itsierve center focontract angrocurement actionsthe Office of Agency
Management and Budg(OAMB). Id., 1 17. At the time,VETS’ OAMB was led by Director
Paul BriggsandDeputy Director Angela Freemaid. “In order to improve performance at

VETS,” Plaintiff believedit would be prudent to hire a handful of “renowned management
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consultants and experts in leadership” from outgidggovernment namely, Stewart Liff, Ron
Kaufman, and Mark Tribusld., 118. His objective was to have them carry out “organizational
and program assessments, management reviews, and comprehensive traatlisgafoin order

to increase performance, efficiency, and effectivenelss.”

To accomplishthis, he directed two of his subordinate®eputy Assistant Secretary for
VETS John McWilliam an€hief of Staff Amit Magdieli-to arrange for their hiringld. He
told them to “act ‘legally, ethically, but also quickly.1d., 1 19. Those two then turned to
Freeman and Briggs in OAMB for help with “all contracting methods and deciggasding
hiring Liff and Kaufman.” Id. According toPlaintiff, his involvement in the hiring procefss
the most parénded there; the butlf the critical hiringactionswere executed by otherSeeid.,

1 25. In particulahe allegeshat McWilliam and Magdieli oversaw the implementatadin
Jefferson’ssimplediredive, andthatFreeman and Briggs in consultation with procurement
officials in Labor’scentralized procurement office, the Office of the Assistant Secretary for
Administration and Managemef@®@ASAM) — took responsibility for the nuts and baifs
getting the consultants hiredseeid., 11 20-2125-27.

Having thus set the stage, one would expect Plaintiff to turn next to the actual sontract
thatwere the focus of the OlGliavestigation. Unfortunatelyze never clearlarticulates how
these three ingliduals came to be hired, despite titling a section of his Amended Complaint “The
Three Contracts At Issue.” Am. Compl. at 8. Notwithstanthegstrearrof-consciousness
narrative that ensugthe Court has attempted to piece together what happeredlayg atthe
Complaintalongside th&®OL-OIG Report and its Cover Memorandum.

As far asthe Courtcan tell,the three consultants were “hireid’several differentvays

Liff appears to have principally been hired via subcontracts with companies thaisktiag ex



contracts with either DOL or the Office of Personnel Managentee¢Mot., Exh. A (DOL-
OIG Report No. 14-1300002 ) (“DOL-OIG Report”) at 2826; id.at 510; Am. Compl.,
1 25. Tribus appears to have been hired directly by DOL, although it does not seenwést he
ever given a “contract” as that term is normally underst@ebAm. Compl, 127 (“Jefferson
obtained written, pre-approval from DOL'’s legal counselfor hiring and paying Tribus . . . .”).
Instead DOL arranged fohim to be paid via credit cardlseeDOL-OIG Rep.at 4650
(describing paying Tribus by credit card on two occasions). Finally, lamffivas not ever
“hired” at all. On the contraryaccording to the Report, the problenth Kaufman was that
DOL received his services for freeven though DOL'’s prime contractor ended up having to
improperly foot the bill. SeeDOL-OIG Rep. at 38 (arguing that DOL “improper[ly] accept[ed]”
services fronKaufman for free).

Whatever forntheyultimatelytook, these personnelctionsformed the basis of what
came nextviz, DOL-OIG’s investigation and ReporSeeAm. Compl., 11 24, 29-51
(complaining of the “Report’s False Legal ARdctual Conclusions”).

B. The DOL-OIG Investigation

According toJeffersonthe investigation was poisoned from tiet gq since he believes
it originated withtwo of his disgruntled charges in VETS’ procurement and budget office
(OAMB): Freeman and Brigg Seeid., 1 29. The bad blood started, apparently, “after Jefferson
and McWilliam disciplined Briggs and Freeman for poor performance and fongi&tse
statement$ 1d., 1 28. Thereafter, Freeman resigned from the agency, “[bJut she did not go
quietly.” 1d. She “filed three bogus Equal Employment Opportunityclaims against them
that were quickly dismissed,” and then proceeded totfile OIG complaint at issue héered.,
1 29;seeDOL-0OIG Rep. at 46 (“Freeman said that she sent the gmoous complaint dated

August 3, 2010, to the OIG hotline and added that she no longer wished to remain anonymous.”).
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Briggsalso “alleged contractual improprieties” after being disciplined by JeffeiSeeAm.

Compl., 1 295eeDOL-0OIG Rep. at 1 (“A segrate complaint submitted by Fergus Paul

Briggs . . ., which referenced the same allegations [as Freeman’s complaint] was received by th
OIG on September 21, 2010.”).

The investigation begashortly thereafteunder the auspices of Acting Inspector Gaher
Daniel Petrole SeeDOL-OIG Rep. at 4. Abouw year later, and aftéaving interviewed 22
individuals,Petroleissuedhe final investigative Bport, whichaddressedive distinct
allegations of misconductd. at 1-4. (The Report indicates that there are only four allegations,
despite rendering five different conclusiorid.) The investigation substantiated three of the

allegations, partially substantiated one, and concluded that one was unsubstantiated:

Number Allegation Conclusion
A/S [Assistant Secretary] Jefferson and DAS [Deputy Assistant Substantiated
Secretary] McWilliam abused their authority by giving Stewvff an
1 advisory and assistancentract anatoercingETS employees into
manipulating existing federal contractsarder to hire contractor Liff
without the benefit of competition.

A/S Jefferson and DAS McWilliam accepted a gift from Ron Kaufn Unsubstantiated

2 that exceeded $25 in value, in violation of 5 C.F.R. § 2635.202.

[number A/S Jefferson and DAS McWilliam improperly directeo_l VETS Substantiated

omitted] employees to have DOL contractors Hen Kaufman without
competition, and endorsed his products on the VETS intranet web

3 A/S Jefferson’s actions to obtain training services from an associa Substantiated
Mark Tribus, led to the circumvention of procurement rules.
A/S Jefferson allowed. . Liff to become involved in decisions Partially

4 affecting federal personnel including promotions, hiring, and Substantiated
terminations.

Id. at 1-2.

Petrole attached to theeport a Cover Memorandum directed to Seth Harris, then-Deputy
Secretary of Labothat summarizethe findings. SeeMot., Exh. B (Cover Memorandum). The
memo stated that “[t]he report describes a pattern of conduct by AssistatbBedefferson,

and consequentlyy other senior VETS officials, which reflects a consistent disregard of federa



procurement rules and regulations, federal ethics principles, and the proedshep of
appropriated dollars.’ld. at 1. TheMemorandum clarified that although Jefferson himself did
not necessarily violate procurement rud@ctly, it was his “insistence upon retaining the
services of these [three] individuals [that] resulted in procurement violdiyooficials in both
OASAM and VETS.” Id. at 2.

Plaintiff maintains that the entire investtgon — and thus the resultingport—was
riddled withflaws. SeeAm. Compl., 11 29-50Among his grievances are that:

e OIG investigatordailed toacknowledgehatDOL procurement personnefkerethe ones
responsible for “suggest[ing] and execut[ing]” many of the problematicaxinty
decisions, id., § 30

e TheReportcites no “objective evidence” that he or his subordinate appointees
(McWilliam and Magdieli) “pressur[ed] Freem&r anyone else to do anything”
impropervis-a-vis the contracts at issyel.;

e |t was not Jefferson’ggal responsibility, but rather OASAM’s, to “ensur[e] that
procurement rulepvere] followed,” id., 1 31

e Freeman isesponsibldor any procurenm@ misconduct regarding Kaufméecause she
“unlawfully approved the work on her own initiative and without authority,” id., § 32;

e Any procurement violation resulting from the payment of Tribus idtenntiff's fault
becausdereceivedadvance approval to pdyibusfrom theDepartment’'s Deputy
Solicitor, who also “twice informed [DOIG] investigators . . that Jefferson’s actions
were ‘both legal and ethical,itl., 1 33;

e The Report falsely states that “Liff and Kaufman were former colleaguesferfsaef at a
consultingfirm,” thus suggesting Jefferson had nepotistic motives, when “Jefferson had
neve been a colleague of” eithed., 11 34-35

e The investigators never notified Jefferson that he was the subject of thegatiestor
what the allegations wergl., 11 36, 39

e Theauthors of the Repofailed to disclos@nyimpeachment evidence regarding
Freeman’s and Briggs’s initial complaints, in violation of “the Giglio Poliay.,’ 11 40,
43, 46}

e Theauthorsofferedno “objective basis for finding[Jthat Jeffersn violated various
policies but “relied almost exclusively on Freeman'’s statements of fqgksgured by
Jefferson to violate procurement rules without any corroborating testimonial or

1 The Court presumes the “Giglio Policy” refers to the Department dtédisspolicy regarding compliance with the
Supreme Court’s decision iglio v. United States405 U.S. 15@1972), which concluded that the Due Process
Clause requires prosecutors in a criminal case to disclose certain impeafdrimgtion about cooperating
withesses.SeePolicy Regarding the Disclosute Prosecutors dPotential Impeachment Informatigbec. 9,
1996),available at http://www.justice.gov/ag/policyegardingdisclosureprosecutorgpotentiatimpeachment
informationconcerninglaw.




documentary evidenceid., 1 41;

e Theauthors distorteditnesstestimonyto make it seem like Plaintifignored
Magdieli’'s advice not to proceed” with certain contraicts 1 42;

e The authorgommitted legal errors by claiming various procurement actions were
unlawful when, according to Jefferson, they were wiot 1 44-45, 47,

e The Report providedo citationgo legal authority to support its claims of unlawfulness
and unethical behavior, id., 1 48-49, 51; and

e Theauthors invented a “knew or should have known” standbfaultto blame Jefferson
for the contacting mishaps becauteeylackeddirectevidence that hkad pressured
anyone to violate procurement rules or ethical policy restricti¢chs 150.

C. Jefferson’s Resignation and Publication of the Accusations

As the Court already noted, the D@QUG Report and Cover Bmorandum were issued
directly to Jefferson’s bosBeputy Secretaridarris on July 21, 20111d., 1 52. The next day,
Harris called Jefferson into his office and placed him on administrative lethaungiving him
a chance to read either documelat., 11 53-54. Harris also prevented Jefferson fraotéssing
information and evidence with which he could refute the Memorandais's €harges™ for
instance, by denying Jefferson access to his personnel recalsnning him from contacting
VETS staff. Id., 11 53, 55 (*You . . . are not to use or access DOL-issued equipment; you are not
to have any contact with VETS&aff; and you are not to contact any of the parties who were
involved in this mattef). About a week later, however, Harris “gave Jefferson a redacted
version of the Report,” albeit without any of the exhibits, T 56.

On July 26, 2011, Jefferssmattorney reached out to Harrisrequest the full,
unredacted Bport,informing him that'Jefferson had a right to review the entire record and be
heard in order to refute the allegationgd:, 157. Hariis respondethat same day‘telling
Jeffersa that he had four hours in which to resign or be firdd.; 158. He stated that if
Plaintiff resighed, he would receive one montB&sverance, but that if he refusadfailed to
resign by close of business, he would be fired “immediately and wiimyugeverance pay.d.

Although Jefferson’s counsel asked for an additionaltdagview the redacteddRort,Harris



declined Id., 1 59 (“Harris told Jefferson: “You have no due process right!”). Jefferson
submitted his resignation to the Secretair Labor that afternoonld., { 61.

According to the Complaint, hil treatmentdid not end there. The very next day, DOL
and DOL-OIG held a joint press conference at which thabplicly disseminat[efithe Report’s
and Memorandum'’s false charges, errors of fact, and mistakes oflw{'62. The story was

picked up and reportdaly The Washington Post and other publicatiolus, 1 63. The

government alssentthe Report to Senator Cla McCaskKi, thenChair of the Homeland
Security Subcommittee on Contracting Oversight, aiso held a press conference about the
investigation.Id., 1 64-65. Adding more salt to the wourg tnedia agaipicked up that
story and published the purportedly falsharges.d., 165.

D. Post-ResignatiohlameClearing Efforts

Right around the same tinasthejoint press conference, Jefferson and his lawyer
contactedDOL’s lawyers in an effort tahallengeheReport’s conclusionslid., 166. In a
meeting withthe Solicitor of LaborPlaintiff identifiedvariousdeficiencies in the Repoand
sought access to all materials necessary to exonerate himself, includimgdactedersion of
the Report andts exhibits. Id. He was toldoy memorandunthat he was still prohibited from
contacting VETS staff and accessing his files until September 1, 2011, arttetgavernment
wouldtreat his request for the fulldport under the Freedom of Information A8eeid., 1167,
53. He ultimately receivethe full Report, although not a full set of unredacted exhilis.
167.

On August 31, 2011 — “the day before Jefferson could begin contacting his former DOL
colleagues and start the process of clearing his narhktris posted on DO& website anotér
memorandum that “ratified many of the Report’s and [Cover] Memorandum’s legalcindl fa

errors.” Id., 11 68-69. Jefferson claims he was given no notice that such a document was going
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to be published and no opportunity to rebutid.

Several yews later, Jefferson sought to clear his name by another avenue. On July 20,
2014, he filed a complaint with the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity femdngefy
(CIGIE) against DOEOIG and the relevant investigators for “violating OIG regulations, the
[Inspector General Act], the APA, and Jefferson’s due process rightdibg tai conduct a full
and fair investigation” and issuing’lagally and factually false” Bport. Id., { 78. Three
months later, CIGIE’s Integrity Committee issued a letter to Plaintiff indicatatgttivould
take no action on the matted., § 80.

After his resignationJefferson “found it very difficult to obtain a jobld., 172. In one
instance, a company “terminated negotiations” with him for a seniorridagdeole when it
learned of “the Report’s findings of ethical and legal violatiorid.” In another case, a large
executive search and training firm rescinded an offer for him to serve in a gesiiton after a
member of the firns board read abotlte Report on the internetild. He also “lost opportunities
for lucrative public speaking engagements” and had a “lucrative contract” redé¢ordhe same
reason, id.1172, 77, and alleges he has suffered “humiliation, anger, and shame from having hi
name and reputation ruinedld., 1 73.

E. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed suit inJuly 2014 and amended his Complaint in March 2015, setting forth
four distinct counts. Countaccuses DOIOIG and the individual officers involved in the
investigation—i.e., acting Inspector GenerRetrole and three subordinates, Asa Cunningham,
David Russ, and James Powell — of violating the APA by disregarding various rules and
regulations geerninghow OIG investigations are to be conducté&shunt Ilassertghat DOL,
DOL-OIG, Harris, and the four individuals nameddaunt Iviolated his due-process rights by

injuring his reputation, which could have been prevented had he been given atchiamty
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rebu the Report’s allegedly false conclusion€ount Ill, which he brings against all individual
defendants (Harris, Petrole, Cunningham, Russ, and Powell), is a clalanfages flowing

from a Fifth Amendment tort violation under Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal

Bureau of Narcotics403 U.S. 388 (1971)Last Count IV consists of three different legal claims

— under the Inspector General Act, the APA, and the Fifth Amendment’s Due Prétaess €
against CIGIE for various alied shortcomings.
In the early stages of this suit, Plaintiff also filed notice of a related casis @durt

brought by Stewatiitiff against many of the same Defendants. E€& No. 3Liff v. Office of

the Inspector Gen., U.S. Dep't of Labdlo. 14-1164filed July 10, 2014) In January 2016, the

Court granted in part and denied in part the government’s motion to diartiiss casge

permitting Liff's dueproces<laims to proceednd declining to decide whetheBavens

remedy was appropriate der the circumstances presented there. 882016 WL 107914, at

*9, 12 (D.D.C. Jan. 8, 2016). Some of the same issues raised there also appear in this Opinion.
One final note: the Court’s Local Rules impose page limits for a reasbtheaparties’

footnoteheavy briefs (particularly Plaintiff ©ppositior) appeaiplainly calculated to

circumvent such limits. Future pleadings in this format will be stricken.

. Legal Standard
In evaluating Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, the Court must “treat the complaint’

factual allegations as true . . . and must grant plaintiff ‘the benefit of all icfese¢hat can be

derived from the facts alleged.3parrow v. United Air Lines, Inc216 F.3d 1111, 1113 (D.C.

Cir. 2000) (quotingschuler v. United State617 F.2d 605, 608 (D.C. Cir. 1979)) (internal

citation omitted)see als@erome Stevens Pharms., Inc. v. FDA, 402 F.3d 1249, 1253 (D.C. Cir.

2005). This standard governs the Court’s considerations of Defendants’ contentions under bot
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Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(8eeScheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974) (“[l]n

passing on a motion to dismiss, whether on the ground of lack of jurisdiction over the subject
matter or for failure to state a cause of action, the allegations of the aonsplauldbe

construed favorably to the pleader.”); Walker v. Jones, 733 F.2d 923, 925-26 (D.C. Cir. 1984)

(same). The Court need not accept as true, howeweelegal conclusion couched as a factual
allegation’” nor an inference unsupported by the facts set forth in the Complaint. Trudeau v.

Fed. Trade Comm’n, 456 F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (qu&apasan v. Allai78 U.S.

265, 286 (1989)
To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)1gaintiff bears the burden of

proving that the Court has sebjmatter jurisdiction to hedris claims. SeeDaimlerChrysler

Corp. v. Cuno, 547 U.S. 332, 342 & n.3 (2006); Arpaio v. Obama, 797 F.3d 11, 19 (D.C. Cir.

2015). A court has an “affirmative obligation to ensure that it is acting within the stdpe

jurisdictional authority.”_Grand Lodge of Fraternal Order of Police v. A¥hct85 F. Supp. 2d

9, 13 (D.D.C. 2001). For threason, “the [p]laintiff's factual allegations in the complaint . . .
will bear closer scrutiny in resolving a 12(b)(1) motion’ than in resolving a 12(bx6pmfor
failure to state a claim.ld. at 1314 (quoting 5A Charles A. Wright & Arthur R. Miélr, Federal

Practice and Procedu§e1350 (2d ed. 1987)). Additionally, unlike with a motion to dismiss

under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court “may consider materials outside the pleadingsdimgleci

whether to grant a motion testhiss for lack of jurisdictiori. Jerome Stevens Pharm02 F.3d

at 1253.
1.  Analysis
Defendants move to dismiss Jefferson’s Complaint in its entirety. Findingetlogcal

to address the coundgemewhabut oforder, the Court will first tackle Plaintiff's primadue-
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process clainfCount 1), movenextto the_Bivens questiorCount Il), proceed to the APA

claim brought against DOL, DOOIG, andtheindividual DefendantfCount ), andconclude
with the claims brought against CIG(Eount IV). The Courultimatelyconcludes that Bbut
Count Il must be dismissed.

A. DueProces/iolation (Count I)

Althoughall of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint is saturated wiéimguage redolent of a
due-processlaim, it is in Count llwhere hanost plausiblyallegesthathis constitutional rights
were violated.In brief: he complains that the government falsely accused him of legal and
ethical lapsegjragged his name through the mud, &ailed to give himhe chance to contest
the charges against him adequately presentdefense.Those wrongsin concert withthe
added stigma brought on by his forced resignation, deprived him of a liberty imenest
reputation, which he asserts is protected by the Fifth Amendment.

Before proceeding to the analydise Court notes that to the extent this coarhes

individuals, it presumes they are being siretheir official capacity, particularly since

Plaintiff's Bivensactionin Count Il is asserted against the same individuals and relies on the

same legaliteory. t will, accordingly, treaCount llas if it werebrought only against the

agenciesnd entitieshemselves SeeKentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 166 (198FA] n

official-capacity suit is, in all respects other than name, to be treatexlidsagainst the
entity.”).

In addition, although Plaintiff in his Opposition insists that Count Il alleges both
substantiveandproceduratue-process violationseeOpp. at 26, the Amended Complaint
contains not a single suggestion that Jefferson intended to adliarfoemer SeeAm. Compl.,

11185-95. Because he failed to pleadch a theory ther¢éhe Court will not address it her8ee

Arbitraje Casa de Cambio, S.A. de C.V. v. U.S. Postal Serv., 297 F. Supp. 2d 165, 170 (D.D.C.
12



2003) (“It is axiomatic that a complaint may not be amended by the briefs in opposition to a
motion to dismiss.”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).
1. Reputation Plus vs. Stigma Plus
“To state a claim for the denial of procedural due process, a plaintiffathege that(l)
the government deprived [him] of a “liberty or property interest” to which [fa&] a tegitimate
claim of entitlement,” an@?) that“the procedures attendant upon that deprivation were

constitutionally [in]sufficient” ” New Vision Fhotography Program, Inc. v. Dist. of Columbia,

54 F. Supp. 3d 12, 28 (D.D.C. 2014) (quoting Roberts v. United States, 741 F.3d 152, 161 (D.C.

Cir. 2014)).

Plaintiff argues thatinder longstanding Supreme Court precedent, he has a
constitutionally protected liberty interest in his reputgtiwhich was damaged whéme
government falsely accused him of procurement misconduct and forced him to Gmsafd.

of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 573 (1972) (“[W]here a person’s good name,

reputation, honor, or integrity is at stake because of what the government is doing tdhatm,” t
person’s liberty interest is on the line, meaning that “notice and an opportunity tardeahe
essential) (quotations and citation omitted).

In this circuit, a plaintiff may avail himself of two different legal theories tobdistaa

reputation-based due-process violati@eeHutchinson v. CIA, 393 F.3d 226, 231 (D.C. Cir.

2005). The first, commonly called a “reputation plus” clairequires “the conjunction of

official defamation andlan] adverse employment action®’Donnell v. Barry, 148 F.3d 1126,

1140 (D.C. Cir. 1998). To plead such a claim, the plaintiff must meet three requireriesits
hemustallege“that the government’s defamation resulted in a harm to some interest beyond

reputation,” such as‘@oss of present . . . government employniebbe v. U.S. Dep’of
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Justice 753 F.2d 1092, 1111 (D.C. Cir. 1985), or a demotion in rank andSes0’Donnell,
148 F.3d at 1140. Second, he must “allege that the government has actually gtyhstor
her reputation by, for example, charging [him] with dishonesty” or “unprofedsionduct.”
Doe 753 F.2d at 1111. Third, he must plead facts indicating “that the stignteihmgpered
future employment prospectsld.

His second option is to pursue what is known as a “stigma fflasty This theory
“differs from the [reputatioplus theory] in that it does not depend on offisipéechbut on a

continuing stigma or dability arising from officialaction.” O’Donnell, 148 F.3d at 1140

(emphases added)n other words, Wwerea “reputation plus” theory requires some form of
defamatory or stigmatizingpeechyy the government, the lattéepends only on governmaht
imposition of “a continuingtigma or other disabilitgrising from official actioh that
“foreclosed the plaintiff's freedom to take advantage of other employment opp@sunid.
(internal quotation marks and brackets omitted).

Although Plaintiffadvances both theories, he has adequatelyguigcthe former -that
is, (1) an adverse employment action, such as involuntary loss of governmentreeni|q) a
stigmatizing or defamatory act by the government closely connectedhatthdverse action
and (3) a “hamper[ing]” of his subsequent employment prosp&etsDoe, 753 F.2d at 1111-12
(denying government’s motion to dismiss where plaintiff alleged she “vgakatiged on the
basis of allegations of unprofessional conduct and dishonesty,@anbdtges were allegedly
disseminated to prospective employers, public and private”).

Jefferson has not, conversely, made out a claim under a stigma-plus thémalgr this
line of cases, a government action that potentially constrains future engslbgpportunities

must involve a tangible change in status.” Kartseva v.tdBtate 37 F.3d 1524, 1527 (D.C.
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Cir. 1994). Such a change may be shown in one of two Wiy first is if the government’s
actions formally or automatically exclude[d]” Rintiff from future government employment
opportunities -e.g, by making “a binding determination to disqualifym from further
employment Id. at 1528-29. Plaintiff's Complaint contains no setdim, so he must rely on
the second patlallegingthat even if the government did not makeranal disqualification, its
actions nevertheless had thedad effect of largely precludifjgim] from pursuindghis] chosen
careey’ id. at 1528 — meaning that “his ability to pursue his chosen professidebas
‘seriously affected, if not destroyedO’Donnell, 148 F.3d at 1141-42 (quotitrtseva 37
F.3d at 1529

Here, too, Jefferson’s Complaint falls shorte ptoclaimsthat he has “found it very
difficult to obtain a job,” Am. Compl., § 72, bbhedoes not allegéhat he has been broadly
precluded from working in his field. Even though his allegations suffice to show some
“hampering” of his employment prospectss Bpisodicanecdotesf having had one job offer
revoked, having final negotiations terminated in another, and losing a handful of gpddiing
opportunities are insufficient to show broad preclusion from contirhisigareer.SeeKartseva
37 F.3d at 1529 (“[I]f [the plaintiff] has merely lost one position in her profession but is no

foreclosed from reentering the field, she has not carried her burdép; Taylor v. Resolution

Trust Corp., 56 F.3d 1497, 1506 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (“[P]laintiff nda@ynonstrate that the
government’s action precludes him . . . from such a broad ramportunities that it interferes
with [his] constitutionally protected right to follow a chosen trade or prafe&Ss(internal
guotations and citation omitted).

Although the reputatioplus claim, unlike the stigmplus one, may be facially

sufficient the government nonetheless offers a series of arguments challenginiglitg. vaihe
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Court now takes those up.
2. FTCA Defense

Just ast argued irLiff , 2016 WL 107914, at *5, the governménst insists thaCount I
must be dismissed becauskes redly just a defamatiomlaim masqueradings a constitutional
one. SeeMot. at 10. The argument goes like this: bec&ment Il involves allegations of
defamationit mustin fact be a defamation claim, and therefibr@ay only properly be pled
underthe Federal Tort Claims Acthe statute governirgl tort clains lodged against tHederal
government.See28 U.S.C. § 267t seq But because the FTCA specifically precludes the
bringing of defamation claims against the governmsedid. § 2680(l), Plaintiff’'s count cannot
survive.

Tidy as it is, this syllogism is built onshakyfoundation, for it presumes that just
becausélaintiff’'s claim possesses some of the same characteristicdedmation claim, it
must by necessitiye a defamationlaim. As the Court observed idff , this argument might
hold water ifJeffersorhad ‘limited [his] Complaint toseeking damages resulting from
‘defamaton by the government . . . alone,’ . .But the allegations in the Complairlege more
than just defamation. .. [a]nd [Plaintiff] seeks] more than jusinonetary relief for past harms
namely, a wide range of injunctive remediekiff , 2016 WL 107914, at *5 (quoting Paul v.
Davis 424 U.S. 693, 701 (1976)In attacking not onlyhe defamatory statements themselves,
but also his loss of employment and the inadequacy of the procedural protactbalsiefor
challenging the accusations levied against him, Plaintiff makes clear that heimpigtrelying
on artful pleading t@onstitutionalize a simple tort claim. Just as the Court concludgtf jn

this defense falls flat.
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3. Failure to State a Claim

The government next argues thatause Jeffersamas not fired, but rather resigned,
owed him no procedural protectionSpecifically, it insists that any resignation, even an
involuntary one, does not count as an “adverse actiorthéfirst element o& reputatiorplus
dueprocess claim. In the alternative, it argues that even if an involuntary taomi(ar
“construdive discharge”) satisfies the adveission requirements, Jefferson’s resignation was
voluntary. The Court considers both contentions below.

a. Constructive Discharge as Adverse Action

The government’sifst argument is that resignation- evenif involuntary — is not an

“adverse action” under theoth line of dugprocess cases. Skot. at 14. In support of this

position, the governmemglies almost exclusively oivans v. Dist. of Columbia, 391 F. Supp.

2d 160 (D.D.C. 2005)areputation-plusase in whicranemployee’sesignation, obtained under
threat of terminationvasdeemedo have vitiatedany liberty interest he may have had in his
reputation.ld. at 168. The coutherereasoned that “a forced resignation is not enough to make
out a libertyinterest clair because, as a matter of lalve stigma stemming from “resignation

from one’s position, even under the threat of termination . . . does not have so negative an effect
on future employment opportunities as to raise due process concktnst’167-68.

This Court is notnclined to followEvans. As an initial matterEvanscorrectly
acknowledged thdfthe D.C.] [Clircuit appears never to have held squarely that a constructive
discharge or forced resignation is an insufficient bdsissuch a claim.ld. at 168. Indeed, the
three D.C. Circuit casdsvanscited as supporting its conclusion all dealt vdtrect
terminations or demotions, and thus none had occasion to decide whether there might be

circumstances under which a constructive discharge might also si8#e€’Donnell, 148 F.3d
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at 1140 (demotion®range vDist. of Columbia, 59 F.3d 1267, 1274 (DCr. 1995)

(termination); U.S. Info. Agency v. Krc, 905 F.2d 389, 397 (D.Cir. 1990) {erminatior).

More important, however, is thtte facts alleged here illustrate that a constructive
discharge may, in sonarcumstances, b&s stigmatizing as an actual, “officia€rmination. As
a remnder, DOL-OIG issued the Report to Harris on July 21, 20%&eAm. Compl., 1 52.
Harris placed Jeffersamn administrative the next dayd then askefbr his resignation on July
26. 1d., 1153, 57-58. On July 27, DOL and DOL-OIG held their joint press conference at which
they “publicly disseminat[ed] the Report’'s and Memorandum'’s false charges ef fact, and
mistakes of law.”ld., 162. Senator McCaskill held another press conference on the matter the
following day. Id., { 65. About a month later, Harris publicly posted a memorandum
“ratif[ying]” the Report’s conclusions and confirming that Jefferson had @dlgbvernment
ethics standards and procurement rulés. 1168-69. In sumthe government’sharp
accusationsissued both shortlyefore andafter Jefferson’swift exit, leave the distinct
impressiorthathewas pushed out because of the alleged miscondile there may be
circumstances in which a resigning official may plausibly implywasn't fired; | quit to return

to my career in private life,'Graehling v. Vill. of Lombard, lll., 58 F.3d 295, 297 (7th Cir.

1995), this does not appear to be one of them. The Court thus cannot coasladeatter of
law, thatthe stain of governmental opprobrium is always lifted where a plaintiff hasdaimais
own removal.

The notion that involuntary resignation canoonstitutean adverse actiofor due-
process purposes also stands in tensiontvshcircuit’sdoctrine of constructive discharge,
which permitsan employeavho “cannot show that she was actually terminated” — for purposes

of constitutional or federal statutory violations — to demonstratéd#tuse her “resignation .
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was involuntary[it] was effectively a termination.Keyes v. Dist. of Columbia, 372 F.3d 434,

438 (D.C. Cir. 2004)accordAliotta v. Bair, 614 F.3d 556, 566 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (“[T]he doctrine

of constructive discharge enables an employee to overcome the presumption ofineksfaf

a resignationpnddemonstrate she suffered an adverse employment &gtisimowing the

resignation or retirement was, in fact, not voluntary.”) (emphasis ad@adficularly important
is that in Keyes establishingan “adverse action” wasssential tglaintiff's statutoy and
constitutional claims, including deprivation of diberty interesunderthe Due Process Clause.
See372 F.3d at 437. Although thewrt ultimately agreed with the district court that, on the
summaryjudgment record before iKeyeshad failed ® adduce evidence of involuntary
separation, it nevertheless pointed thiait, as a general mattgroof of involuntariness would
permit the liabilityquestion to be put to a jureeid. at 438.

Finally, the Court notes that the only circuit court &wvd squarely addressed the issue
heldthat an involuntary termination would count as an adverse action, provideldititef

could provethe requisite elements of a constructive discharge.H8lee Borough of Kutztown,

455 F.3d 225, 233 n.10 (3d Cir. 2006) (“[A] resignation will be deemed involunterydeemed
a constructive discharge) and will thus trigger the protections of the due pectaess. . . under
only two circumstances: (1) when the employer forces the employegjsagsnor retirement
by coercion or duress, or (2) when the employer obtains the resignatiomesnesti by
deceiving or misrepresenting a material fact to the employee.”).
This Court thus concludes that the mere fact that Jefferson resigned does not preclude his
bringing a dugarocess claimBecause “resignations . are presumed to be voluntary,”
however Aliotta, 614 F.3d at 566, haust alsallegefacts sufficient to establish thiis

resignation was, in fact, involuntary, and thus “effectively a terminatigeyes 372 F.3d at
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438. It is this question that the Court now addresses.
b. Involuntary Resignation

The government next argues thatwithstanding the founour timeframe that Jefferson
was given to make his decision, $tél had a choice: resigor be fired. He chose the former,
andgiven that he admits he conferred with counBefendants maintain thats choice to resign
was knowing and voluntarySeeMot. at 14.

A federalplaintiff generally haswo options forestablishingan involuntaryresignation:
“(1) that the resignation. . was the product of misinformation or deception by the agency; [or]

(2) that the resignation. . was the product of coercion by the agency.” Staats v. U.S. Postal

Serv, 99 F.3d 1120, 1124 (Fed. Cir. 1996¢€Aliotta, 614 F.3d at 567 (stating in less clear
language that a plaintiff may prove involuntariness by both avenQesy.the latter is plausibly
alleged by Jefferson, and so the Court will limit its focus accordingly.

A plaintiff seeking to establisan involuntary resignation on the basis of coercion must
allege that“[1] [the] agency mpose[d] the terms of an employee’s resignation, [2] the
employees$ circumstances perrftéd] no alternative but to accept, and [3] those circumstances

were the redtuof improper acts of the agencyKeyes 372 F.3d at 43%ee als&tone v. Univ.

of Maryland Med. Sys. Corp., 855 F.2d 167, 174 (4th Cir. 1688)ing as relevant factor

“whether [the employeayas permitted to selectdteffective date of resignation”)t is true that
“‘[w]here an employee is faced merely with the unpleasant alternatives of resigbeiggor
subject to removal for cause, such limited choices do not make the resultingtiesign

involuntary act.” Keyes 372 F.3d at 439 (quogySchultz v. U.S. Navy, 810 F.2d 1133, 1136

(Fed. Cir. 1987)). “On the other hand, inherent in that proposition is that the agency has

reasonable grounds for threatening to take an adverse aétaanemployee can show that the
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agency knew that the reason for the threatened removal could not be substantiatedi¢hedhrea
action by the agency is purely coercivé&thultz, 810 F.2dt 1136.

The Court concludes thaefferson’s allegations sufé at this stage tstate a clainfior
coercive,involuntary termination. Severassentiafactsfrom the Complaintilustrate that the
circumstances surrounding lisparturgoermittedonly onereasonabl@ption, and that Jefferson
maintains that the Agncy had no legitimate basis for demanding his resignation.

First is that, in contrast with the vast majorityotfierscenariosnvolving aclaimed
involuntary dischargelefferson’s'‘choice” between resignation and discharge eféectivelyno
choice aull. Specifically,hisstatus as a political appointee meant that he was not entitled to any
of the pre- or post-termination procedural protections enjoyed by the bulk of cikahseunder

Chapter 75 of the Civil Service Reform A@eeUnited Statey. Fausto, 484 U.S. 439, 447

(1988). For exampleCSRA-covered employees faced walproposed focauseermination
receive notice andhay challenge such an action before an impatrtial triboudeé5 U.S.C.
8 7513(b) (before being terminated, cadenployee entitled to 3daysnotice, a minimum of
7 days in which to provide evidence and argument contesting the termination, and a written
decision, among other protections). With those individuals, the choice betweentr@signd
the prospecbf for-cause removal is undeniably an unpleasant one, but there is a meaningful
choice nonetheless

Jeffersonconversely, had no recourse to such statutory protections. As the government
itself vehementlyargues, “Because the plaintiff was a membehefexcepted service under the
[CSRA],” and thus not entitled to Chapter§procedural guaranteete could be dismissed
without cause, without prior notice, without a termination hearing, and without an opportunity t

appeal the decisidh.Mot. at 18. As a result, he could not simply “stand pat and"ftlet
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agencys proposed terminatio&hristie v. United State$18 F.2d 584, 588 (Ct. Cl. 197%0r

he was not entitled toontestt at all. In other words, there was no upside to his choosing
termination over resignation. Furthermore, even if heltatthe ability to complain, post
termination, to the Merit Systems Protection Board’s Office of Special Couasemedy that
will be discussed in greater detafra at Section I11.B.2 — he wouldavehad that option
whether he resigned or was fired.

To make matters worse, Jefferson was only given four hours to pick his p&8isen.

Perlman v. United State490 F.2d 928, 932-33 (Ct. Cl. 1974)¢ CSRA casdinding

retirement involuntary when plaintiff given several hours to choose betweemestirand

being subject to reduction in forceljle also lacked a complete picture of the allegations against
him. Upon his suspensiore livas denied all access to Report andhen shortly before
resignationhe wasggiven a redacted version withcutomplete set afs accompanyingxhibits.
SeeAm. Compl., 1 67.He wasalso denied the ability to develop and present any evidence to the
agency both during his pre-resignation suspension and in the short window he was given to
decide whether to resign. See T 54.Harrisevenprohibited him from speaking to employees
who might corroborate his account of events until theatfiy his resignation Seeid., 1153,

67.

Finally, Jefferson has alleged that the government knew or should have known that the
reasons underlying his termination were unsubstanti&@edSchultz, 810 F.2d at 1136 (“If an
employee can show that thgencyknew that the reason for the threatened removal could not be
substantiated, the threatened actionhgyadgency is purely coerciveHle alleges, for instance,
that the investigators deliberately withheld impeachment evidence about Wmasesses who

spoke out against him and that they “distortedftam witness testimony in thegRort b make it
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appear more damningseeAm. Compl.,1140, 42. In addition, his allegations that Harris
deliberately prevented him from accessing exculpatory informatioluding access to
government witnesses, also suggests that the Agency was willing to prodasezhwsen course
regardless of whether Jefferson might be able to clear his name. Plaintifibaet forth
sufficient facts that, if proven, could plausibly establish that he stepped downt &g=aingl.
4. Political Question

Defendants next argue thaten if Jefferson’s resignation does not doom his claim, the
count must be dismissed as a nasticiable political questionSeeMot. at 15-18. This
objection requires onlglight attention. Vére Jefferson simplgomplainingof hisseparationn
the formof a wrongfuttermination suit andeekingreinstatement as a remedefendants’
position wouldmerit greater analysjsas it would be plain that lteesiredudicial review of

DOL’s political decision to remove a Presidential appoint&eeFree Enter. Fund v. Pub. Co.

Accounting Oversight Bd., 561 U.S. 477, 509 (2010) (“Under the traditional default rule,

removal is incident to the power of appointmgnt.That is not the case here, wh&laintiff

instead demands an opporturtibyclear his name. Sé&odd v. Velger, 429 U.S. 624, 627

(2977) (*Assuming all of the other elements necessary to make out a claimmudtstagion. . . ,
the remedy mandatdxy the Due Process Clause. is ‘an opportunity to refute the charge.™)
(quoting_Roth, 408 U.S. at 573).

More problematic for Defendants is that the D.C. Circuit addrabsidsue inDoe v.

U.S. Dept of Justice 753 F.2d 1092 (D.C. Cir. 198%nddeclined to find the question

nonjusticiable over the objections of a disséeftte plaintiff inDoe was an exceptesgrvice
attorney for the Justice Department who claimed the goverrtmadhtarmed her reputation by

accusing her of dishonesty and unprofessional conduct and then dischargiSgd¥s3 F.2dat
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1097-98. In concluding that the plaintiff had adequately pled a “reputation plugtrdcess
claim, thecourt decoupled the question of fhlaintiff's liberty interest in hereputation from
whethersheenjoyed (or lacked) any protectprbpertyright in herappointment. The liberty
claus€, it explainedin contrasto the property clause, “protects reputation, not job tenure, in the
government employment contéxtld. at 1108 n.15.

On account of those distinctions, even though the plaintiff “enjoyed no statutory
entitlement to her position with the Departméand the government was under no obligation to
give her procedural protections “its iactual decision to terminateer, id. at 1100 (emphasis
added), she was still entitled to “an opportunityto refute the chargdsagainst herpnd clear
her name.”]ld. at 1112;seeid. at 1106 (“[T]he combination of government defamation
plus . . the discharge of a government emplogtses a liberty interest claim even if the
discharge itself deprives the employee of no property interest protectied fifgh or fourteenth
amendments). Toargue, as the Government does here, that “Plaintiff had no due process rights
vis-a-vis his pesidentiallyappointed position,” Mot. at 27, is to answer only thepprty
interest question. Because Plaintiff does not to undo his discharge, this objectesraarri
weight here.

Relevanttoo, is that the dissent Doeexpressly argued th&trcing the government to
undertake a nam@earing hearing in such circumstaneesuld require courts tinterfere with
sensitive politicabuestiondetter addressdaly Congress and thexecutive. _Seéd. at 1127
(MacKinnon, J., gssentingn par) (“[T]he court should defer here to Congress’ judgment that
liberty interests—which do require some statutory support—should not be deemed to vest in
certain jobs in the Executive.”). h€ majorityneverthelessejected this line of argument,

concluding that even though some government employeebatiymissed for no reason at all,
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there is “nothing paradoxical in the [parallel] conclusion that the government shimuttl af
discharged employees a bare opportunity to be heard when it slanders theirqralffessi
reputation and effectively forecloses future employment opportunities.” Doe,Z&atFL112
n.21; see alsad. at 1114 (“[T]he administrative burdens involved in a gestinationjname
clearing]hearing do not in any wanterfere with the Departmestemployment decisions.”).
5. Adequate Process

Defendants alsmaintainthateven if Plaintiff's liberty interest were at stake, he received
all the proceske was owed under the Constitution because he was given the opportunity to
explain himself during th®OL-OIG investigation.SeeMot. at 15; Reply at 5-6The fact that
some process was afforded him during the initial stages of the investigats not obviate the
need for additional process further down the line. If, as Jefferson itisest®port’s legal
conclusions werencorrect seeAm. Compl., T 45 (insisting that behavior described in Report
was ‘hot unlawfut), it would seem obvious that additional protections were requikezl,-an
opportunity to clear his name — if the government did, in fact, constructively disdhiargand

impose a stigma on his reputaticBeeMcCormick v. Dist. of Columbia, 899 F. Supp. 2d 59, 68

(D.D.C. 2012) (adequate process in context of plaintiff's liberty interestresgdétermining
“only whether [the plaintiff] received adequate process before the [defamaliegations
became indelibly attached to his record”).

Jefferson alleggsnoreover, that the investigators did not inform him that he was in any
way the subject of the investigation, which he contends affected his motigatiability “to
provide a full and accurate account of how all of the contracts took place, who was f@eponsi
for various actions and decisions, and what their precise role was in the threetedna.

Compl., § 37.He also asserthat in certain instances, DARIG relied on a single witness for
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conclusions such as Freeman“f eeling pressured by Jefferson to violate procurement rules” —
but without providing “any corroborating testimonial or documentary evidence,” ginoutv
disclosing information that might have undermined the credibility of that witr&essid., 1 41.

In essence, the Complaint makes clear that it was only when Jefferson was abéto rev
the Report itself that he could understand and respond to what he beliet®signéicant
flaws and misleading presentations of evidence. The Court thus canadtlsigyearly stage of
litigation thatbecausdne was given the chance to tell his own story during the D0 -
interview, he was, as a matter of law, given all the protestswas due. & e.qg, Old

Dominion Dairy Products, Inc. v. Sec’y of Def., 631 F.2d 953, 968 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (adequate

process for protecting liberty interest “includes the right to be adtdf the specific charges
concerning the [plaintiff] contractor’s alleged lack of integrity, so a$ftmdathe contractor the
opportunity torespond to and attempt to persuade the contracting officer, in whatever time is
available, that the allegations are without merit”).
6. No Money Damages

Last Defendants argue thiaécause Plaintiff seeks money damagédss prayer for
relief, and becaus@gereign immunity barsuch reliefagainst the federal governme@gunt i
must be dismissedSeeMot. at 19. But this position ignores that Plaintiff also seeks prospective
relief to ameliorate the harm done to his reputat®aeAm. Compl. at 44-46That he
improperlyseeks money damagesaddition to injunctive reliefloes not bar his claim.

B. Bivens Action Against Individuals Count III)

Incorporating the same theory underlying his dreegss claim against the government,
Jefferson also seeks damages ftomindividual officersvho caused him harmCount lllis
tethered to the Supreme Court’s 1971 Bivens case, in we¢ourt recognized an implied

private action, directly under the Constitution, for damages against fedecalsfélkeged to
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have violated a citizes’Fourth Amendment rights.Meshal v. Higgenbotham, 804 F.3d 417,

420 (D.C. Cir. 2015).
Defendants raise threhallenges to such a cause of actibirst, they ontend that

becausdivensclaims “borrow” the statute dimitations fromthe most closely related stetat

law — here, aoneyear limitations period fodefamation under D.C. lawJefferson’saction is
untimely. Second, thegnaintainthat aBivens remedy should not be recognized when a
comprehensive remedial schemeamely, the CSRA- exists as the exclusive remedy for
disputes arising from employegnaployer relationshipsThird, they argue that the individual
Defendants are entitled to qualifisdmunity. Because the Court agrees vidéfendants’ first
two argumentsit need not reach the last
1. Statute of Limitations

In supporting their limitationposition, Defendants reason as followke claim accrued
at the latest on August 31, 2011 (when Harris issued his follow-up memorarmum)aintiff
did not file suit until July21, 2014; because tiBstrict of Columbia’s ong/ear bar on
defamation actiongoverns this claingeeDoe 753 F.2dat 1114 (applying District’'s oneyear

limitations periodor defamation to plaintiff 8ivensclaim), it is time barred SeeMot. at 20-

21 (citing D.C. Code 82-301(4)). Plaintiff does ot dispute thaif the oneyear limitations
period appliesCount lllis untimely. SeeOpp. at 35 n.21. Instead, beunterghatDoerelied
on the wrong limitations period — it should have usedydreeric (or “residual’}hreeyear
limitations period for tort actionsand in any eventa more recent Supreme Court case
implicitly overruled the holding iDoe Seeid. at 3536. Althoughthis Court was presented
with this question iriff , it found no need to grapple wibo€s precise holdingthiswas

becaus®o€s limitations ruling was specific to “reputation plus” claims, whereas Ldéspnted

27



only “stigma plus”claims, which do not require proof of governmental defamat8wseLiff ,
2016 WL 107914, at *7-9Q’Donnell, 148 F.3d at 1140 (stigma-plus theory “differs from the
[reputation-plus theory] in that it does not depend on official spee@&s’a result, where the
Court found no need to resolve the questiohifih, it cannot elude it here.

Where ‘there is no federal statute of limitations expressly applicablke goven federal
claim, courts generally “borrowthe most suitable statute or other rule of timeliness from some
other source,” which typically is “the most closely analogous” dtatetimeliness rule.

DelCostello v. Intf Bhd. of Teamsters462 U.S. 151, 158 (1983). Such “borrowing” is

appropriate whether the civil remedy was crafted by the legislature ora&wve@nsaction
implied directly from the ConstitutionSeeDoe, 753 F.2cat1114.

In Doe—a “reputation plus” case like this or¢he D.C. Circuit “borrowed” the District
of Columbia’s one-year limitations period for defation actins, reasoning thathere
defamatory statements were central to that plaintiff's constitutional damlaga, there was
little difference between it and a regular defamation claim under state torSkaid. (“We can
discern no difference in the prailities of [litigating]or the [substantive] policies behind a
Bivens action for the deprivation of a liberty interest in reputation and an ordinarpatesn
claim.”).

Four yeardater, the Supreme Court in Owens v. Okure, 488 U.S. 235 (1989), addressed

an inconsistency problem that had arisen in lower courts’ application of the “bagfowie in a
nearly identicacontext: actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for deprivations of constitutional rights
by state actors. I®@wers, the Court noted:

Some courts found analogies in comntaw tort, others in contract

law, and still others in statutory lavDften the result had less to do

with the general nature of 83 relief than with counsel’artful
pleading . . . Consequety, plaintiffs and defendants often had no
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idea whether a federal civil rights claim was barred until a court
ruled on their case.Predictability, a primary goal of statutes of
limitations, was thereby frustrated.

Id. at 240 (footnote omitted). Part of the confusion, the Court noted, was that constitutional tort
claims ‘have no precise stataw analog.” Id. at 249. As a result, certain stdéev causes of

action, like intentional torts, were “particularly inapposite” givke ‘wide spectrum of claims
which § 1983 has come to sparid. To remedypervasive inconsistencies in the courts’
application of the “borrowing” rule, the Court held thattfere state law provides multiple

statutes of limitations for personal injuagtions, courts considering § 1983 claims should

borrow the general or residual statute for personal injury actiddsat 24950.

Pointing toOwens Plaintiff argues thaDo€s reliance on the ongear limitations period

for a due-procesBivensclaim “has beersub silenticoverruled.” Opp. at 35. As this Court

observed irLiff , this “argument has some appeal.” 2016 WL 107914, at This is because
Owensoffers nothing to suggest that the “[flederal interests in uniformityaiogyt and the
minimization of unnecessary litigatioattending 8§ 1983 actions are in any way distinct from the
federal interests underpinning Biveriaims. Both the Supreme Court’s and the D.C. Circuit’s
nearparallel treatment o 1983 and Bivenactions furthermore, sugge#tatOwenswill carry

over into the Bivens contexSee, e.qg.Butz v. Economou, 438 U.S. 478, 498-504 (1978)n(

the absence of congressional direction to the contrary, there is no basis for garofekteral
officials a higher degree of immunity from liability when sued for a casigiital infringement
as authorized by Biverikan is accorded state offitSavhen sued for the identical violation

under § 1983.”); Doe v. Dist. of Columbia, 697 F.2d 1115, 1123 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (concluding

that “the bodies of law relating to the two forms of litigatierg| 8 1983 and Biver$ave been
assimilated in most o#in respects”) This is reinforced bgther circuits’ decisions tfmllow

Owensin applyng states residuallimitations perio@ toreputation-based due-proc&isens
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claims. See, e.g.TapiaOrtiz v. Doe, 171 F.3d 150, 151 (2d Cir. 199%¢]ly v. Serna87 F.3d

1235, 1238 (11th Cir. 1996); Van Strum v. Lawn, 940 F.2d 406, 410 (9th Cir. 1991).

All the same, whil®©Owensmay have cast a pall over the continued validitpo&s
statuteof-limitations holding, the D.C. Circuit has nevertheless expressly dddtnsonsider
whetherit perforcecontrols the outcome in an analogéederalBivens action.SeeEarle v.

Dist. of Columbia, 707 F.3d 299, 303 n.3 & 305 (D.C. Cir. 3halding thatunderOwensa

8 1983claimis governed by D.C.’threeyear limitations period, but noting that ‘g federal
defendants are not before us and so we treat only [the] section 1983.cMliith no direct
precedent on this point from the D.C. Circuit, and with Plaintiff having failed to factra
legally distinguish this case froBoe, this Court is bound to follow it under the principles of

stare decisis See, e.g.Brewster v. Comm’r of Internal Revenue, 607 F.2d 1369, 1373 (D.C.

Cir. 1979) (“Stare decisisompels adherence to a prior factually indistinguishable decision of a

controlling court’); accordBrooks v. Grundmann, 748 F.3d 1273, 1279 (D.C. Cir. 2014); but

seeMcDonald v. SalazaiB831 F. Supp. 2d 313, 320 (D.D.C. 20@dpplying District’s threeyear

limitations period to “reputation plus” duprocess claim, but ultimately dismissing claim on
merits),aff’'d in part, No. 12-5023, 2012 WL 3068440 (D.C. Cir. July 20, 2(di#pmarily

affirming dismissal ofdueprocess clam); Lederman v. United State$31 F. Supp. 2d 46, 61-62

(D.D.C. 2001) (elying onOwensto determine appropriate statute of limitationsBorens
claim). If Doeremains valid, th®istrict's oneyear limitations perioglainly bars Plaintiff's
claim hee, giventhatJefferson filed suibearlythreeyears after July 26, 2011the date he
insists the clainaccrued SeeOpp. at 35 n.21.

2. Comprehensive Remedial Scheme

Even if the D.C. Circuit were to overruloe, Jefferson’sBivensclaim still founders
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becaus€ongress’s comprehensive statutang regulatoryegime governinglisputes arising
from thefederalemployeremployee relationship e.g, the CSRA and accompanying
regulations -mplicitly precludes recourse toBivensremedy here.

Althoughthe Supreme Court in Bivemsdicatedthat courts have the power to fashion

damages remedies for constitutiotwts under certain circumstangese403 U.S. at 396, in
later cases it explaingtat such a remedy “is not an automatic entitlement no nveltietr other

means there may be to vindicate a protected interest Wilkie v. Robbins, 551 U.S. 537, 550

(2007). Courts thus “tread carefully before recognizing Bivens causes of absorplaintiffs
have invoked them in new contextdMlesha) 804 F.3d at 421.

Thereare two situations in which damages remeadhot previously recognized may be
inapt: “The first is when defendants demonstrate special factors counsefiitajibe in the
absence oéffirmative action by Congress|,] [and t]he second is when defendants show that
Congress has provided an alternative remedy which it explicitly declared tsubstdute for

recovery directly under the Constitution and viewed as equally effective.5dDarl Green, 446

U.S. 14, 18-19 (198(kitation,quotation marks, and emphasis omitted).

Germane here is that the Supreme Court has already concluded in a similar bahtext t
the federal employeemployeerelationship — governed as it is by a variety of statutes (including
the CSRA), regulations, and executive ordeis precisely the type of “special factor|]
counselling hesitation” in creatingBavensremedy. _Se8ush v. Lucas, 462 U.S. 367, 372, 385-
88 (1983) (declining to craBivensremedy for federal employee who alleged retaliatory
demotion in violation of First Amendment, where gdleral civil servants are . protected by an
elaborate, comprehensive schehswenif “civil service remediefmnight not bejas effective as

an individual damages remedy”).

31



Suggesting thaBushdoes not control the outcome here, Plaintiff argues that a “special
factors” analysis is superfluobgcauseourts in this district hav&already recognize8ivens
claims br adverse employment actions and for stigiues cases. Opp. at 37. In other words,
this Court would not be doing anything “new” by implying a damages remedy undéftthe
Amendment for a deprivation of the liberty interest in one’s reputagaeid. (citing Campbell

v. Dist. of Columbia, 972 F. Supp. 2d 38, 44-45 (D.D.C. 2013) Satalzar 831 F. Supp. 2dt

320). Buteven leaving aside thact that bothare districtcourt cases and thus not binding on

this Gourt, seeJohnson v. Dist. of Columbia, 850 F. Supp. 2d 74, 79 (D.D.C. 20d&ithker

concludedhat aBivensremedy existed for a dy@ocess violatiomt all In fact,Campbelldoes
not even involve 8ivensclaim. See972 F. Supp. 2d at 44-45 (claim brought under § 1983).
And in Salazarthe Court found that the plaintififadfailed to state a claim for arpredicate
due-process violation, making it unnecessary to even addresdatesiBivensissue See831

F. Supp. 2d at 320.

As an alternative, Jefferson argues that even if the CSRénrecircumstances might
counsel against a damages remedy, that is not the case here, where the standegmestion
to him, making Bivens his only route to complete relief. The government does not digpute t
the CSRA'’s primary remedial provisions weavell out of reach for Jefferson; after die was a
political appointee who could be fired at wikeePub L. 99-619, 100 Stat. 3494dv. 6, 1986)
(Assistant Secretary of VETS “serve[s].at the pleasure of the President”). As a member of
the “excepted service,” s&U.S.C. § 2103 (defining “excepted service” to consist “of those
civil service positions which are not in the conifpet service othe Senior Executive Service”),
Jefferson had few, if any, means of seeking recourse for wrongs inflictad bynployer. Most

critically, he was barred from accessing the CSRA’s “Chapter 75” remedies madelavailab
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many other civil ervants, which include the right to appeal an adverse action, and an
accompanying “right to notice, representation by counsel, an opportunity to respond, and a

written, reasoned decision from the agend¥ldin v. Dept of Treasury132 S. Ct. 2126, 2130

(2012) (citing 5 U.S.C. § 7513ccordFausto 484 U.S. at 448xclusion of “excepted service”
employees from CSRA’s remedial provisions reflectsdagressional judgment that those
employees should not be able to demand judicial review for the type of personnel aatiau c
by that chapter”).Bereft of other protectionfie argues, the CSRA cannot preclude access to a
Bivensremedy.

There is one critical defect in this argument, howevat is the comprehensiveness of
the statutory scheme involved, not the ‘adequacy’ of specific remediegledtthereunder, that

counsels judicial abstention.” Spagnola v. Mathis, 859 F.2d 223, 227 (D.C. Cir. 8888ng¢

(citing Schweiker v. Chilicky, 487 U.S. 412, 422-23 (1988)). It is for this reason that the D.C.

Circuit in Spagnolaejected the creation ofBivensremedy for two federag@mployee plaintiffs

whose constitutional rights were violated but who had no recourse to a signgicesatyr under
the CSRA. SeeSpagnola, 859 F.2d at 225. Undeniably, Spagnola is not dispositive of the
Bivensquestion here, as the plaintiffs in that case still had access to a rembeéit a rather
limited one— via a petition with théMerit Systems Protection Board’'s @# of Special Counsel.
Seeid. & n.3. Jefferson, in contrast, is likely foreclosed from even that limited.r&ed5
U.S.C. § 2302(a)(1)(B) (employees in positions “excepted from the competitiweeseecause
of its confidential, policydeterminirg, policy-making, or policyadvocating character” lack
recourse to petition the OSC).

A case of more recent vintage, howex@auvis v. Billington 681 F.3d 377 (D.C. Cir.

2012) firmly established that Bivensremedy will not lie even where the CSRA forecloses
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“anyreview for [a plaintiff's] alleged constitutional violationsld. at 379, 387 (emphasis
added). In that case, an excepsedvice employee of the Library of Congress claiming
retaliatory demotioin violation of the First Amendment had no route under the CSRA to seek
review of his demotionld. at 384. The Court reasoned that where “Congsed®iice to omit
damages remedies for claimantgptaintiff's] posture was a deliberate gheo Bivensremedy
should be impliedld. So, too, here; by specifically exempting positions like Jefferson’s from
the CSRA, Congress has “spoken” to the issue, and a Bivens remedy should not be Geated.
id. at 387 (noting tha plaintiffs “complete lack of available remedies under the CSiives

not “preventthe statute] from being ‘@omprehensive remedial schérteat precludes. .a
Bivensremedy”).

Other circuitshave reached the same conclusionZiinbelman v Savage228 F.3d 367

(4th Cir. 2000), the Fourth Circuit concluded that two employees of a federal entity ksavn
“non-appropriated fund instrumentality,” or NAFI, were barred from pursuing axBreenedy

for a reputation-based due-process violatitwh.at 370-71. This was so even though the CSRA
specifically states that amrfhployee paid from nonappropriated funds . . . is deemed not an
employeé under the CSRA (except in a small set of circumstances not relevantdesf®),
U.S.C. § 2105(c), and even though they lackegrecourse under the CSR&eeZimbelman

228 F.3d at 371 (“Congress explicitly addressed the status of NAFI employees vémeovied

them from the CSRA’s coverage.”). Similarly, the Ninth CircuiBlankenship v. McDonald,

176 F.3d 1192 (9th Cir. 1999), denied an exceptattice federal court reporter recourse to a
Bivens remedy even though the CSRA provided her with no remedy &eadid. at 1194-95;

accordLee v. Hughes145 F.3d 1272, 1274 (11th Cir. 1998) (decliningreateBivensremedy

for excepteeservice employee with naight to file a petition with the Office of Special
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Counsél for adverse personnel action)efferson’s8Bivensclaim will consequently be

dismissed.

C. APA Violation (Count )

Plaintiff also sue®OL-0OIG andfour of its officers undethe Administrative Procedure
Act, which provides & limited cause of action for parties adversely affected by agency action.”

Trudeau v. Fed. Trade Comm’n, 456 F.3d 178, 185 (D.C. Cir. 2006). Although the Complaint

does notlearly articulate what he believB©L-OIG did wrong, Jefferson’s Opposition
enumeratesfive” actionsthat he views as unlawful.e8Opp. at 8 n.5. On closer inspection,
however, one of those pertains@ount IVbecause it is asserted against CIGad the
remainingfour objections comprise only twaiscreteé‘actions” The first “action”’he challenges
is DOL-OIG’s investigation and resulting Report and Cover Memorandum. He contends this
“action” was unlawfulbecauseamong other thingshe investigtion failed to follow unnamed
OIG rules and regulationandthe Report and Cover Memoranduaere filled with factual and
legal errors._Serl. The second action he challengeB@L-OIG’s “fail[ure] to promulgate”
unspecified “rules and regulations governing investigations and reporting puisuatice and
comment” proceduredd. As Jefferson sees it, due to this critical omissewerything that
DOL-OIG did was illegal from the stageeAm. Compl., T 84.

In response, the government argues tieitherthe investigation nor the resultifgport
and Cover Memorandugonstitute*final agency actichwithin the meaning of the APA, and
that Jeffersoithuslacks a cause of action under that stat@eeMot. at 6-7. As tothe notice-
andcomment violationDefendants believihat Plaintiff'sclaim is so vague and illefined as to
warrant summary dismissabeeReply at 2621.

The Court willconsidereach of Jefferson’s twallegationsbelow, concluding that

neithersuffices to stata claim for relief. It notes that, as witount | even though this count
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was brought against individuahdagencyDefendantsthe Courtwill treat it asbrought only
against the government, sintj¢g] he APA does not provide for individue&pacity claims[pr

money damages,Duhring Res. Co. v. U.S. Forest Serv., No. 07-314, 2009 WL 586429, at *6

(W.D. Pa. Mar. 6, 2009and since “[a]n officiatapacity suit is, in all respects other than name,
to be treated as a suit against the eritigentucky, 473 U.Sat 166.
1. Investigation, Final Report, andoverMemorandum

As the Court previously explained, theux of Plaintiff's gripe with the government is
that the investigation and ensuing@®rt were fatally flawed, and that the latter’s false and
misleading statements ruined his reputatitins thisset of“actions’ that he asks this Couto
review under the judicial-review provisions of the APA. To survive a motion to dismiss,
plaintiff invoking theAPA must meetwo requirementsalevant herefirst, the action must be
“agency action” as defined by 5 U.S.C. 8§ 551(HB)dsecondit must befinal,” id. § 704,
meaningt “imposes an obligation, denies a right, or fixes some legal relatiohdRediable

Automatic Sprinkler Cov. Consumer Prod. Safety Comm’n, 324 F.3d 726, 731 (D.C. Cir.

2003). The Court addresses these requirements in reverse order.
a. Finality

To startthere idittle question that Jefferson’s challenge to the conduct of the
investigationitself attacks an dmon thatlacks finality under the APASeeid. (“merely
investigatory” actions of a federal commission fall short of “final ageotgr@d where “[n]o
legal consequences floinom the agencyg conduc). That is not to say that all ndgmal
actions aralwaysinsulated from review, as the APA provides that evengfaliminary,
procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling not directly reviewasidjsct to review

on the review of the final agency action.” 5 U.S.C. 8 704. But the investigation alone cannot

36



satisfy the APA’s threshold requirement of finality.

Whether the Report and Cover Memorandum count as “final agency action” is a slightly
more involved question. égause the Inspector General Act makes cleathibaIGs’'mandate
is to conduct investigations, draft reports, and issue recommendasaggesting that final
action is left to th@gencywithin whicheachOIG is housed — this Court concludbhat mere
issuance of the Report and Cover Memorandum is not sufficiently final for purpdbesARA.

“In 1978, Congress, out of concern over governmental inefficiency, created offices of

Inspector Genad in a number oflepartments and agencies,” United States v. Aero Mayflower

Transit Co., 831 F.2d 1142, 1144-45 (D.C. Cir. 1987), including in the Department of Labor.
Seeb U.S.C. App. 3 88(A) & 12(2). The OIG’s duties includarograms carried out by the
agency (or “establishment,” which is the generic term used in the IGA), making
recommendations, and issuing reports of its findings and conclusions to both the agency and
Congress.Seeid. 88 4(a) & 5. While the IGA grants the OIGs extensive powers to carry out
their investigatory functiongeeid. 8 6, the statute does not authorize themakeanyfollow-

up actionagainst federal employees behalf of the agencyseeNASA v. Fed. Labor Relations

Auth., 527 U.S. 229, 253 (1999) (Thomas, J., dissenting) (“OIG has no authority over persons
employed within the agency outside of its Offazed. . . no authority under the Inspector
General Act to punish agency employees, to take corrective action with respgehty
programs, or to implement any reforms in agency programs that they might recommieeid on t
own.”).

The text of the two documents issugdDOL-OIG attess to the fact that their issuance
did not mark the “consummation of the agency’s decisionmaking process,” nor seared as

action “by whichrights or obligatns [were] determined, or from whitdgal consequences
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w[ould] flow.” Bennettv. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 178 (1997) (citation and quotation marks

omitted) The motivating purpose of the DAIG Reportwasto determine whether the five
allegations of misconduct made by various complainantahganerit. SeeDOL-OIG Rep. at

1-2. The Report, then, set out to determine whether the allegation could be substantiated or not
Each section describes the conversations that the team of investigatorshhaatiaits
witnessesJefferson’s “response” to the allegations, and OIG’s independent conclusions —
nothing more.

The succinct, twgpage Cover Mmorandum — which Jefferson himself descrilzesd
kind of executive summary of the Report,” Am. Compl. § 24 — drives home the conc¢hegion
DOL-OIG’s work waspreliminary in nature. Its language makes clear thaR#éport serves to
inform DOL of DOL-OIG’s investigative findings, leaving to agenmanagement thguestion
of what to do about itSeeMot., Exh. B (DOLOIG Memo) at3 (“[P]lease inform the OIG,
within 30 days, as to any actions which the Department plans to take with respect to the
investigative findings contained in our repoyt. Quite tellingly, neither th&®eport nor the
Cover Memorandum providesy concrete suggestions of what correctiveoast if any, it
believes the agency should take, apantnf

recommending that the Department review the three specific
procurement actions described in the investigative report to
determine what, if any, further actions should be taken. We are also
recommending that the Department’'s Designated Agency Ethics
Official review the actions of Assistant Secretary Jefferson and
other senior VETS officials to determine what actions, if any, should
be taken.

Id. At bottom, DOLOIG'’s actions were “more like a tentative recommendation than a final and

binding determination,” rendering them non-final under the APA. Franklin v. Massditshus

505 U.S. 788, 798-99 (1992) (publication of census report by Department of Commerce is not
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final agency actioysincedecisiomaking processf congressional reapportionment does not
concludeuntil “Presidentakes affirmative steps to calculate and transmit the apportionment to
Congresy.

Reinforcing the conclusion that these two documents were interlocutory
recommendations — and not final agency actionthat, as Plaintiff concedes, “OIG is part of
DOL under the IGA.” Opp. at 11 (citifdASA, 527 U.Sat 240, 242). Jefferson thus cannot
argue thabecause thReport waIG’s last word on the matter, even if not DOLtlse Report
must be final for purposes of the APA.

DOL itself, moreover, appeared to understand that it had more work to do in determining
how to proceed with Jefferson. In July 2011, shortly &ftamtiff's superior, Harrisreceived
theReport,heplaced Jefferson on administrative leave, “effective immediately and uriiefur
notice.” Am. Compl., 1 53. About a week later, he then presented Jefferson with the choice of
resigning or being firedSeeid., 1 58. While it is plausible that a constitive discharge could
serve as a final agency action, €. at 11, Jefferson has not challentdaction under the
APA. SeeAm. Compl., 11 81-84. And, even if he had, the APA would not be the proper vehicle

for pursuing that claimSeeGrosdidier v. Chairman, Broad. Bd. of Governors, 560 F.3d 495,

497 (D.C. Cir. 2009)“Federal employees may not circumvent the [CSRA’s] requirements and
limitations by resorting to the catchall APA to chaleragency employment actions.”).
b. Agency Action
Although the lack of finality is dispositive of the outcome here, the Court also nates tha
under prevailing D.C. Circuit precedent, the Complaint fails to plausibly albeg®OL-OIG’s

publication of documents constitutes “agency action” under the ARMearstRadiq Inc. v.

FCC, 167 F.2d 225 (D.C. Cir. 1948pe court considered whether a defasnatigency
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publicationitself could constitute reviewable “agency action” under the APA. Noting that the
statute defined “agency action” aké whole offa] part of every agency rule, order, license,
sanction, relief, or the equivalent or @drthereof, or failure to actjd. at 227(quotingAct of
June 11, 1946, Pub. L. 79-4@4 Stat. 243, §(8), now codified as 5 U.S.C. § 551(13)), the
court concluded th&fa]mong these words, the only one approaching applicability to the
publication . . . is the word ‘sanctidh.ld. But the court concluded that the APA’s definition of
that“sanction”“d[id] not cover an act such ag’defamatory publicationid. (citing 60 Stat.
243, 82(f) (defining the word “sanction;now codified as 5 U.S.C. § 551(10As a result,
Plaintiff could not bring suit under the APAd.

In the ensuing decades, the D.C. Cirbaisat least'twice questionedthe continued

validity of the Hearst Radidecision.” Trudeau 456 F.3dat 189 (quoting Impro Products, Inc.

v. Block, 722 F.2d 845, 849 (D.Cir. 1983));see alsdndus. Safety Equip. Ass’n, Inc. v. EPA,

837 F.2d 1115, 1118 (D.Cir. 1988). [espitethe court’sconcern that Hearst Radkd absolute

immunity rule for agency publications” is misguidedgelndus. Safety Equip. Ass’n, 837 F.ad

1118,it has “never had thesed” to reconsider that holdingeeTrudeay 456 F.3d at 189. In
addition, Plaintiff has offered no argument as to why his facts do not fall within thie am
Hearst Radi® reasoning. Even were the Court to conclude that @DDEs actions were
sufficiently final for purposes of the APA, consequertthg allegedly defamatonyublications
cannot be considered to be “agency action” under the binding precedent of this circuit.
2. Notice and Comment

Plaintiff also seeks judicial review of DOQRIG’s reliance on amnidentified set of

“regulations”that Jefferson believes were isswathout following the APA’s noticend

comment proceduresleffersonhowever, offers no more specificity than that. He does not
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identify any part of a rule, regulation, policy, procedure, or guidance docunatiiet believes
was unlawfully put in plae. Because of this complete laokspecificity, the Court is unable to
determine whether the APA’s notiemdcomment requirements are even applicable, since the
statute makes clear that those procedures apply only in specific circumstancesre3ae

Mortgage Bankers Assi3b S. Ct. 1199, 1204 (2018)The noticeandcomment requirement

‘does not apply’ to ‘interpretative rules, general statements of policy, or ruéegenty
organization, procedure, or practice.”) (quoting 5 U.S.658(b)(A)). In short, Plaintiff failsto
give the governmeranything even resemblirigfair notice of what the . .claim is and the

grounds upon which it rests.” Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (20€7¢yrian) (quoting

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). The Court will thus grant

DefendantsMotion to DsmissCount Ifor failure to state a claim.

D. Claims Against CIGIHCount IV)

Plaintiff's last count alleges that ti@ouncil of the Inspectors General on Integrity and
Efficiency violated his statutory and Fifth Amendment due-prodgsds byfailing to take
action on a complaint that Jefferson submitted to July 2014.SeeAm. Compl.,f1 78-80,
110-124. To theninitiated CIGIE is an “independent entity within the executive branch” that
was created by Congress in 2008 to “address integrity, economy, and effectigsnesdhat
transcend individuabovernment agencies” and “increase the professionalism and effectiveness”
within the “offices of the Inspectors General.” 5 U.S.C. App. 3 § (AXa)o further this
mandate, Congresdsoprovided for the establishment of an Integ@ymmitteewithin CIGIE
to “receive, review, and refer for investigation allegations of wrongdbiaigare made against
Inspectors General and staff members of the various Offices of Insaateral.” Id. § 11(d).
Although Plaintiffs Complaint leviesa barrage of accusatioagainst CIGIE and its

Integrity Committee- including thatthe enactingegislation is constitutionallguspect anthat
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both CIGIE’s and the Integrity Committegisliciesand procedures were promulgated in
violation of the APA — his Opposition succinctly makes clear that he has one maimoobjéct
declined to take action in response to his 127-page complaint againgD®LSeeOpp. at 41-
42 (citingIntegrity Committee’s October 2014 letter decision dismissing his compladatthus
sues CIGIE for violation of his rights undée Inspector General Act, the APA, aheé Fifth
Amendment’s Due Process Clause.

In addressing this count, the Court must first consider whether Plaintifferabrgy to
pursue his claims. é&ause hbas not identified an injury that he specifically suffered on
account of the Integrity Comittee’s neinvestigation decisiohedoes not. Even ifefferson
could satisfy the prerequisites for Article Il standi@gunt IV would fail for the simple reason
that the IGA, the APA, and tH2ue Process Claus® notpresentiable causg of action.

1. Standing

Although the question of Plaintiff’'s standing undsunt IV was not briefed by either
party,“[i]t is well established that a federal court cannotia¢he absence of jurisdiction, . . .
and that jurisdictional issues” including Article llbsiding ‘may be raised by the cowtia

sponte” Am. Library Assh v. FCC, 401 F.3d 489, 492 (D.C. Cir. 2005 party’s standing “is

an essential and unchanging part of the-caismntroversy requirement of Article Ill.Lujan v.

Defenders of Wildlife 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). To establish standing, a party must, at a

constitutional minimum, meet the following criterigirst, the plaintiff “must hee suffered an
‘injury in fact’ — an invasion of a legallgrotected interest which is (a) concrete and
particularized . . and (b) ‘actual or imminent, natdnjectural” or “hypothetical.” Id.
(citations omitted). Second, “there must be a causal connection between thandjtng

conduct complained of the injury has to be ‘fairly . .trace[able}o the challenged action of the
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defendant, and not . . . th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party notHheefore t
court.” Id. (alterations in original) (citation omitted)hird, “it must be ‘likely,” as opposed to
merely ‘speculative,” that the injury will be ‘redressed by a favorable decisild. at 561

(citation omitted).A “deficiency on any one of the three prongs suffices to defeat standing.”

U.S. Ecology, Inc. v. U.Pep't of Interior, 231 F.3d 20, 24 (D.Cir. 2000). Here,Plaintiff

cannot establish an injury traceable to the challenged aetien the decision not to investigate
— and he thus lacks standing to pursue this claim.
The Supreme Court has clearly indicated that gfajate citizen lacks a judicially

cognizable interest in the prosecution or nonprosecution of another.” Linda R.S. v. Richard D.,

410 U.S. 614, 619 (1973). The D.C. Circuit, in turn, has extendeprthggple toencompasa
private citizen’s interest in the investigatiohanotherhere, DOLOIG. See e.qg, Inre
Kaminski, 960 F.2d 1062, 1065 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (no standing to compel government
investigation of judicial misconduct under Ethics in Government Altte only conceivable
exception might be the existence of a statutorily enacted private rightafi,dmtit because
Congress explicitly stated that no such action would lie, Plaintiff canndilisetatanding on

that basis.Cf. Petition for Writ of Certrari, Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 2014 WL 1802228, No.

No. 13-1339 (presenting question: “Whether Congress may confer Article Il Saurubm a
plaintiff who suffers no concrete harm, and who therefore could not otherwise invoke the
jurisdiction of a federal court, by authorizing a private right of action based on aidaten of
a federal statut®); 135 S.Ct. 1892 (201%yranting writ ofcertiorar).
2. Failure to State a Claim
In the same subsection of timspector General Achatestablishedhe Intayrity

Committee, Congress included an express provision thatdhde conferaeithersubstantive
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nor procedural rights on any individugbee5 U.S.C. App. 3 8 11(d)(11) (“No right or benefit.
This subsection is not intended to create any right or benefit, substantive or pahcedur
enforceable at law by a person against the United States, its agencieggts,alf any
person’). Plaintiff has not addressed why the broad anéradlempassing language of this
provision does not operate to bar tlisim here.

In addition the statutory standards governing when and how the Integrity Committee
should investigate a particular matter do not lend themselves to judicial resop#iticularly

with regardto the Committee’s decision not to investigate a particular médees U.S.C. App.

3 88 11(d)(4)8); cf. Reply, Attach. 1 (Heide v. Scovel, No. 08-727, slip op. at 13 (D. Minn.
Oct. 1, 2008) ([IGA’s] standards for conducting investigations arenot meaningful standards
that the courts can revieand do not provide eveaninimal guidance to limit agency
discretion”)). As a resultJefferson cannot circumvent the IGA’s clear language by brireging
parallelclaim under théAPA. Seeb U.S.C. § 70()(2) (exempting from judicial review agency
action that is “committed to agency discretion by lawBealsoHeideg slip op. at 12-14
(holding that plaintiff cannot compeivestigation by OlGf Department of Transportation
given lack of clear standasdjuiding OIG’s discretion whether to investigate).

The Due Processl&@use similarly offers no basis sue CIGIE asPlaintiff has not
alleged a protectable interest in liberty or property that was deprived b¥Gl@ilure to take
further action on his complainCf. Futch v. Fine, No. 09-420, 2009 WL 565616, at *1 (D.D.C.
Mar. 5, 2009)“There is. . . no such thing as a dpsocessight to an investigation by the .
Inspector General. . .”). That decision has no bearing on whether he was deprived of a liberty
interest in his reputation by DCand DOLOIG. Apart fromthatinterest, Jefferson has not

presented any other constitutionally protected interest that was affectesl Inyetgrity
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Committee’s decision to dismiss his complai@ount IV will thus be dismissed in its entirety.
V.  Conclusion

AlthoughPlaintiff tries mightily to extract a pound of flesh for thisveadf slights, his
remedies will be far more limited. The Due Prodeéksise mayltimately help him to mend
some of his wounds, but it is not a cure-all for any and all harm inflicted at the hahds of t
government. The Court will, consequentiyant n part and deny in part Defendants’ Motion to

Dismiss. A separate Order consistent with this Opinion will be issued this day.

/s/ James E. Boasberg
JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: March 21, 2016
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